1955

Milan D. Smith v. The Industrial Commission of Utah et al : Plaintiff's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 19, 1954, Mr. and Mrs. Roland B. Smith of Clearfield, Utah, together with Mr. and Mrs. William Robins, were killed in a private airplane crash in Denver, Colorado. Roland B. Smith was at the time of death the president and general manager of Smith Frozen Foods, Inc., and Box Elder Packing Corporation. He left surviving him four children, Roland J. Smith, age 25, Ronald B. Smith, age 20, Kathleen May Smith, age 7, and Michael Jay Smith, age 2. Mr. Milan D. Smith, brother of the deceased, was duly appointed the guardian of the estates and persons of the last two named children, and as such guardian filed claim with the Industrial Commission of Utah for benefits under the Workmen's Compensation Act, naming as defendants, among others, the two corporations in which Roland B. Smith was president and general manager.

On August 31, 1955, the Referee for the Industrial Commission entered his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law wherein he found, "that at the time of the fatal accident, Roland D. Smith was engaged in his capacity of a general partner in the Smith Sales Company. The only purpose of the trip was selling." On September 1, 1955, the Commission entered its order adopting these Findings and therefore denying the claim of the minor children of the decedent. A request for rehearing was made but was denied by the commission.

I will attempt to prove in this brief first that there are absolutely *no* facts in the record which will substantiate such a finding, but that the same is based on pure

speculation, conjecture and guesswork in the face of uncontradicted evidence to the effect that the deceased had nothing to do with the partnership “with the exception of being present *occasionally* on consultation meetings in regard to sales policy and determining of sales policies, etc,” (Emphasis added) and second, that a finding that the deceased was representing the partnership does not negative the fact that the deceased was representing the corporations, and therefore the findings of the Commission are fatally defective.

Before going into the evidence which was presented to the Referee at the hearing, I would like to review the organization of the Smith companies which are involved in this controversy.

The Albert T. Smith family of Clearfield, Utah, has for many years been engaged in the business of food processing, canning and freezing. They had at the time of the death of the decedent canning plants at four different locations. One at Clearfield, Utah, known as Smith Canning Company, two at Brigham City, Utah, known as Box Elder Packing Corporation and Smith Frozen Foods, Inc., one at Lewiston, Idaho, known as Smith Frozen Foods of Idaho, and two at Pendleton, Oregon, known as Smith Frozen Foods of Oregon and Smith Canning and Freezing. In addition to this the family had a partnership known as Smith Sales Company, which acted as a sales brokerage in disposing of the products of the six main corporations. This partnership did not have the authority to sell products, but only to take orders for confirmation by the producing company.

Said partnership was composed of the three brothers, Milan D. Smith, Victor R. Smith, the deceased Roland B. Smith, and one sister, Lavora Smith Wood.

Milan D. Smith was in charge of the plants at Lewiston, Idaho, and Pendleton, Oregon, as well as the Idaho and Oregon operations of the partnership, Smith Sales Company. He received a salary from each, including one from the partnership. Victor R. Smith was in charge of the Clearfield plant, and the Utah operation of the Smith Sales Company. He also received a salary from the corporation and from the partnership. No one other than Victor and Milan was authorized to transact business for the partnership, and only then in their particular areas.

The decedent was in charge of the two plants of the corporations at Brigham City, Utah, and received a salary from each, but he did *not* receive any salary, even token salary, from the partnership, and had nothing to do with the partnership.

Although the officers, directors and partners of the various companies were substantially the same, and although they attempted to coordinate their activities, each had its own officers, its own payroll, and its own integrated operations. The responsibility of each brother was very clearly defined, and each would have very little, if anything, to do with the companies operated by the other brothers, except in an advisory capacity on the board of directors. It is very important that this fact be borne in mind.

Box Elder Packing Corporation of Brigham City

had packed a large tomato crop which was still in the company's warehouse as another packing season approached. Sometime prior to April 19, 1954, the date of the fatal accident, it was proposed that a trip be made to the midwest, one of the principal purposes of which would be to attempt to dispose of this tomato pack. In addition to this, it was to be a general business trip, and contacts other than selling were to be made, but no one had discussed with the decedent the exact nature of the business he intended to conduct, except that it was known for sure that he intended to contact P.I.E. in Chicago pertaining to freight rates on frozen Foods from Utah to the Chicago area. Other stops which would be on behalf of the corporations only were for purposes of procurement of equipment and supplies, and a stop in St. Louis if it could be worked in.

Mr. Bill Robins was the sales manager of the Utah part of the partnership brokerage company working directly under Victor Smith and had discussed with Victor in detail the stops which were to be made so far as sales were concerned. He was going on the trip to represent the brokerage company, and his expenses were all being paid by the brokerage company. He was going to be accompanied by the deceased, Roland B. Smith, who, as previously stated, was the president and general manager of the corporations whose products were to be sold. These two men, together with their wives, departed on their trip early on the morning of April 19, 1954. In attempting to take off from the airport at Denver, Colorado, something happened to the plane and it crashed, killing all four occupants. The sole question then becomes, "Was

the deceased Roland B. Smith representing the corporations at the time of the fatal accident?"

POINT I

EVEN IF IT IS ADMITTED THAT THE ONLY PURPOSE OF THE FATAL TRIP WAS TO DISPOSE OF A TOMATO PACK, WHICH WE CONTEND IS NOT THE CASE, IT DOES NOT FOLLOW THAT THE DECEDENT WAS REPRESENTING THE PARTNERSHIP AND THE PARTNERSHIP ONLY AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT.

It came as a complete shock to all of the Smiths and their attorney when the Commission found that the deceased, Roland B. Smith, was representing the partnership at the time of the accident, because in fact he had nothing to do with the actual operation of the partnership and had no authority to transact business on behalf of the partnership, and these facts are clearly shown in the record. In the light of the decision I again read the Transcript to see what facts the Referee relied on in reaching his conclusion. The only two things that he could rely on are (1) That the deceased was a general partner in the Smith Sales Company, and (2) One of the primary purposes of the trip was to dispose of a tomato pack. Neither of these facts speak directly and say what the actual facts were, but only inferences can be drawn therefrom, and inferences should only be used when there is no direct evidence on the question, which is not the case here. True the partnership agreement said that he was to "diligently apply himself or herself in the business of the said partnership," but did he do so? All the testimony in the case clearly says, "No." On the other hand, the partnership agreement stated that Victor R. Smith was to be the general manager, which he was.

Also, the amendments to the partnership agreement show that during the year from April, 1947, to April, 1948, the deceased had only an \$800 investment in the partnership, and his investment fluctuated from time to time. Can it be said affirmatively after reading the articles of co-partnership and without further proof that the decedent was representing only the partnership on this trip?

The fact that one of the principal purposes of the trip was selling is just as inconclusive as the partnership agreement. Let us assume for the sake of argument that the sole purpose of the trip in question was selling. What were they going to sell? The tomato pack of Box Elder Packing Corporation. Mr. Bill Robins, Sales Manager for the Utah part of Smith Sales Company, was going to go and there is no question but that he was to represent the partnership. All of his expenses were paid by the partnership. He had made careful plans for the trip with Victor Smith, whom the record clearly shows was the only member of the partnership in the Utah area who had any actual authority to act for the partnership aside from the authority imposed by law to protect third parties. So far as Robins was concerned, this was a selling trip. One other man was to accompany Mr. Robins. We submit by way of argument that had the product to be sold been that of the Idaho or Oregon corporations, Milan D. Smith would have been the second man. Had the product to be sold been that of Smith Canning Company of Clearfield, Victor R. Smith would have been the second man, and the reasoning is obvious. The fact is, the product was the tomato pack of Box Elder Packing Corporation, and so Roland B. Smith was the second man. We

submit further that in all of these three argumentative examples the second man would have been selected to represent the corporations over which they had supervision and control, and not the partnership. This would be true although Milan and Victor were also the general managers of the partnership in their respective areas. Combine these facts with the fact that the record clearly shows that Roland B. Smith had virtually *nothing* to do with the partnership, and you reach the only logical result that Roland B. Smith was representing the corporations, not the partnership, on this fatal trip.

The record shows the defendant's relationship to the partnership. For example, when the witness, Victor R. Smith, was asked what work the deceased performed in connection with the partnership, Smith Sales Company, he replied:

"A. Well, he had very little to do so far as Smith Sales was concerned, with the exception of being present *occasionally* on consultation meetings in regard to sales policy and determining of sales policies, etc." Transcript page 29, line 28.

Also on line 29, page 62 of the Transcript, we find the following:

"Q. Did Roland have anything to do with the operation of Smith Sales Company?

A. By that you mean with the actual management?

Q. That is right, actual operation of the company.

A. No, except as a consultant, in the consulting capacity, I should say."

And on cross examination by Mr. Christensen the witness stated:

“A. The management of the partnership was *restricted* to my own management in Utah and that of Mr. Milan Smith in Pendleton.

Q. When you say ‘the management’ you mean the detailed supervision, the day to day operation?

A. Yes. That is *there was no one else in the partnership authorized to transact business except the two of us*, and only then in these particular areas.” (Emphasis added) Transcript page 64, line 18.

Also the witness Melvin Stephenson when asked the question, “Did he (Roland B. Smith) actually perform any functions in connection with the partnership, other than in his advisory capacity as a partner,” responded, “Not that I know of.” In the face of this testimony, and nothing in the record to the contrary, how can it be said that the decedent was representing the partnership and the partnership only at the time of death? It appears that the Industrial Commission is placing him in this capacity at the time of the accident for the first time in the history of the partnership, and without one scrap of evidence to warrant their doing so.

In addition to the above testimony we have the further fact in the record that both Milan D. Smith and Victor R. Smith received salaries from the partnership, but the decedent received absolutely *none*. On the other hand, he received a salary of \$190.75 every two weeks from Smith Frozen Foods, Inc., and \$163.50 every two weeks from Box Elder Packing Corporation. These

salaries continued up to and including the date of death, and it is safe to assume that had he not been killed they would have continued through the entire time he was on this trip. It is true that payment of wages alone is not conclusive in establishing the relationship of employment, but it is circumstance which should be considered, and the Commission has not done so. On this point see the case of *Ellegood v. Brashear Freight Lines*, 162 S.W. 2nd 628, 236 Mo. App. 971 and cases cited therein. In the case of *Davis v. Julian*, 107 P. 2nd 745, 152 Kan. 749, the court stated:

“The fact he was paid wages tended to establish the relationship of employer and employee.”
McKinstry v. Guy Coal Co., 116 Kan. 192, 225 P. 743, 38 ALR 837.

And in the case of *Rojeski v. Pennington Dairy Farmers*, 192 A. 746, 118 N.J.L. 335 they indicated that the manner and amount of payment for services rendered are not controlling, but shed light on existence of employer-employee relation which will authorize award under Workmen's Compensation Act.

Another very important factor, and one which has virtually been ignored by the Commission, is that the decedent's expenses were being paid, not by the partnership whom the Commission has found he was alone representing, but by the corporations whose products were to be sold. Victor Smith, who was the only man authorized to write checks on the partnership account, testified unequivocally that the decedent's expenses were *not* being paid by the partnership, but on the contrary, the decedent had drawn \$200.00 from Smith Frozen

Foods, Inc., for “travel expenses” and had taken three additional blank checks which he had authority to execute, one on Smith Frozen Foods, Inc., and two on Box Elder Packing Corporation. If the decedent had been going to represent the partnership his expenses would have been paid by the partnership. The fact they were paid by the corporations is the strongest possible proof that he was going to represent them. In the findings of the Commission the only reference to this strong evidence was made when they said, “Some evidence was introduced that would *tend to show* that Box Elder Packing Corporation underwrote a part of the expense. This was supported by a photostatic copy of a check by the corporation to Roland B. Smith designated “travel expenses.” “Tended to show?” Can there be any doubt? They *were* paying his expenses, and this fact alone should have resolved the issue once and for all. When asked the questions, “There were the two parties going, Who was to pay the expenses of the decedent Roland Smith?”, Victor Smith answered, “His expenses were paid by Box Elder Packing Corporation.” T-60, Line 23. There can be no doubt but that the decedent was going on this trip to represent the corporations. Furthermore there was a cash receipt for gas purchased at Denver found in the wallet of the decedent from which it could be inferred that he had purchased the gas. This is the type of evidence which I would say “tends to show” that the corporations were underwriting part of the expenses of the trip, but not clear unquestionable evidence such as the fact he drew \$200 from the corporation for “travel expenses,” which would do more than just “tend to show.”

There are still other factors which would show that the deceased was representing the corporations which have been ignored by the Commission. For example, the packing season of a canning company is comparatively short, but still the decedent devoted over two-thirds of his time throughout the year to the two corporations in Brigham City. The record shows that he went to the plants almost daily the year round. On cross examination by Mr. Christensen Mr. Victor Smith testified:

“A. Well, during the balance of the year there are three excellent operations. That is *disposing of the product packed*, repairing machinery and equipment preparatory for the next season’s pack, and making necessary contacts with growers *and with suppliers* to provide for the product and the material for subsequent years’ pack.” (Emphasis added.)

Also in the testimony of Mr. Melvin Stephenson, controller for the Smith companies, we find the following. The witness stated:

“A. His (Bill Robins) purpose was to make contacts in connection with sales of merchandise for the Smith Sales Company.” Then I asked the question:

“Q. Now, in connection with the transaction of business for Smith Sales Company, would the other companies be interested in the same contacts so far as that business is concerned? Now for example, say they were going to contact a prospective purchaser in New York, would Smith Canning Company and Box Elder Packing Corporation be interested in that operation?”

A. Very definitely.

Q. And why?

A. Well, the welfare of the company depends upon the movement of merchandise out of the warehouse.

Q. In other words, not only would the Smith Sales Company be interested, but the individual corporations from whom the products were to be delivered would be interested in the transaction also.

A. That is correct."

And still another important point is that Smith Sales Company did not have the authority to bind the individual companies, but only acted as a brokerage for the taking of orders which were not binding upon the company whose products were being sold until accepted by the company itself. This is born out by the testimony of Victor R. Smith on cross examination by Mr. Christensen when he stated, starting at line 8, page 57 of the Transcript:

"A. Well, let me put it this way. A contact might be made, but a sale couldn't be made without being confirmed by the producing plant."

Where sales had to be confirmed by the producing company before a binding sale could be made it is only natural that the president and general manager of the producing companies would go along in order that the sale might be completed at the very time of contact, and in affirming the order and making a binding sale the decedent would be representing the producing company and not the partnership because only the producing companies had the authority to complete the sale. Would the Industrial Commission have us believe that the de-

cedent was representing only the partnership during the time they were flying from place to place, but when they were making sales he stepped from that employment to represent the producing company in confirming the sale? Therefore, even assuming that the sole purpose of the trip was to make sales, the facts will not substantiate a finding that the decedent was representing only the partnership and not the corporations at the time of death, but at best could only warrant a holding that he was representing both.

POINT II

ALTHOUGH THE FINDINGS OF THE REFEREE WERE THAT "THE ONLY PURPOSE OF THE TRIP WAS SELLING" THE RECORD SHOWS BY CLEAR, UNANBIGUOUS, AND UNCONTRADICTED FACTS THAT THE ONLY PURPOSE OF THE TRIP WAS *NOT* SELLING.

At various places throughout the testimony there were references to other things which were to be accomplished on this trip other than selling. I would like to review some of them, starting on line 7, page 34 of the Transcript. Victor Smith testified:

"A. Well, as I have stated, it was in the *nature of a general business trip*. There were sales contacts to be made, as well as contacts to be made, as I mentioned this one on freight rates, other possibly on equipment, procurement. *It was just a general business trip.*"

On cross examination by Mr. Christensen starting with line 7, page 50 of the Transcript we find the following:

"Q. So that to the best of your knowledge, the entire trip was for the purpose of sales with the exception of one contact in Chicago with P.I.E., is that right?"

A. Well now, that is as far as the Smith Sales' relationship to this thing is concerned. That is, in other words—Let me put it this way. *Roland intended to make a number of calls in connection with his part of the activities but I didn't review those calls with him in detail. I have no knowledge of them.*

Q. You don't know what those calls were?

A. No. I had no occasion to review those with him, St. Louis, for instance, was mentioned as a possible call if they could work it in, and I don't know what Roland's business would have been in St. Louis. As I say, I didn't discuss with Roland the details of his business."

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