1955

Milan D. Smith v. The Industrial Commission of Utah et al : Defendant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

“In view of the record and the findings of the commission, our course is an open highway, marked by an unbroken line of decisions which have the support of both natural justice and of common sense. The principles involved are so limpid and axiomatic that their recitation or a citation thereof would be an adscititious burden. Therefore, we move straight toward a conclusion. In all respects the findings are supported by substantial competent evidence, which this court can neither weigh nor review, as the commissioners are the sole judges of the credibility of the witnesses and of the weight of the evidence.”

The court used even stronger language in the case of *Park Utah Consol. Mines Co. v. Ind. Comm.*, 84 Utah 481, 36 P. (2d) 979. It was there said:

“It seems daft and unjust, certainly malapropos, that this court should be required to repeatedly expostulate with legists about principles so well established, and to so frequently reaffirm

that the findings and conclusions of the commission on questions of fact are conclusive, and final and are not subject to review, * * * and that they cannot be disturbed unless it appears as a matter of law that they are contrary to law and contrary to the evidence. We cannot weigh conflicting evidence, nor direct which of the two or more reasonable inferences ought to be drawn from evidence not in conflict. * * * In the determining of facts the conclusions of the commission are like the verdict of a jury, and will not be interfered with by this court when supported by some substantial evidence."

The court has continued to follow the same rule of decision down to the present time. See *Vecchio v. Ind. Comm.*, 84 Utah 528, 37 P. (2d) 542; *Ogden Union Ry. & Depot Co. v. Ind. Comm.*, 85 Utah 124, 38 P. (2d) 766; *Spencer v. Ind. Comm.*, 87 Utah 336, 40 P. (2d) 188; *Littleford v. Ind. Comm.*, 86 Utah 46, 40 P. (2d) 231; *Roberts v. Ind. Comm.*, 87 Utah 10, 47 P. (2d) 1052; *Ellis v. Ind. Comm.*, 91 Utah 432, 64 P. (2d) 363; *Gerber v. Ind. Comm.*, 91 Utah 479, 64 P. (2d) 1281; *Babick v. Ind. Comm.*, (Utah) 65 P. (2d) 1133; *Pecharich v. Ind. Comm.*, 99 Utah 412, 107 P. (2d) 167; *Wilson v. Ind. Comm.*, 99 Utah 524, 108 P. (2d) 519; *Silcox v. Ind. Comm.*, 101 Utah 438, 121 P. (2d) 901; affirmed on rehearing, 101 Ut. 443, 125 P. (2d) 428; *Bradshaw v. Ind. Comm.*, 103 Utah 405, 135 P. (2d) 530; *Woodburn v. Ind. Comm.*, 111 Utah 393, 181 P. (2d) 209; *Camacho v. Ind. Comm.*, (Ut.) 225 P. (2d) 728; *Comm. of Finance v. Ind. Comm.*, (Ut.) 239 P. (2d) 185; and *Edlund v. Ind. Comm.*, (Utah) 248 P. (2d) 365.

The problem presented to the court in this case can be well stated by quoting from the language of this court in the case of *Peterson v. Ind. Comm.*, 102 Utah 175, 129 P. (2d) 563, where it is said:

“In the instant case we are not asked to determine if there is any evidence to support the finding of the commission. We are asked to determine that the probative force of the evidence is such as compels a finding contrary to that made by the commission. The commission having denied an award, found no liability on the insurance carrier or employer, we are asked to declare that the evidence requires or compels a holding to the contrary; that the findings are so against the evidence as to find no support therein; that there is nothing in the evidence upon which a reasonable mind, a judicious mind could rest in arriving at a conclusion, and therefore the conclusion must have been arrived at arbitrarily or capriciously without regard to the evidence. * * *

“* * * To be a reasonable conclusion it must be one for which from the evidence one can give reasons which a judicious mind would deem worthy of consideration, upon which it would be content to rest a judgment. In the case of denial of compensation, the record must disclose that there is material, substantial, competent, uncontradicted evidence sufficient to make a disregard of it justify the conclusion as a matter of law, that the Industrial Commission arbitrarily and capriciously disregarded the evidence, or unreasonably refused to believe such evidence.* * *

“* * * If there is substantial, competent evidence to sustain it, then it cannot be said to be arbitrary or capricious. * * *”

As shown by the authorities above set forth, this court has historically been reluctant to interfere with the holdings of the Commission, and has reversed its orders, or set aside its findings of fact, only in the clearest of cases. One of the leading cases dealing with the question of what is necessary to warrant a reversal of the commission on its findings of fact, was *Kavalinakis v. Ind. Comm.*, 67 Utah 174, 246 P. 698. The rule there laid down is as follows:

“By what has been said we do not wish to be understood as holding that there is no limit to the commission’s power or authority in disregarding or in refusing to give effect to uncontradicted evidence. The commission may not, without any reason or cause, arbitrarily or capriciously refuse to believe and to act upon credible evidence which is unquestioned and undisputed. What we hold is that in case the commission is charged with having arbitrarily and capriciously refused to consider credible evidence, and we are asked to overturn the findings and conclusions of the commission which appear to be in conflict with or contrary to the evidence, *it must be clearly made to appear to us that the commission acted arbitrarily or capriciously and wholly without cause* in rejecting or in refusing to give effect to the evidence. We cannot set aside a finding or conclusion of fact merely because we are of the opinion that upon the face of the record the commission refused to give effect to certain uncontradicted evidence. *Before we can set aside findings or conclusions of fact, the fact that the commission acted arbitrarily or capriciously must be so clear and convincing that but one conclusion is permissible*, and that we would be required to

issue a writ of mandate directing a specific finding of dependency, as we are empowered to do by subdivision (d) of section 3148, *supra*. Any other conclusion would make this court merely a reviewing court with power to weigh the probative effect of the evidence.” (*Italics ours.*)

In the case of *Norris v. Ind. Comm.*, 90 Utah. 256, 61 P. (2d) 413, this court further refined the principles of the Kavalinakis case, and set forth definite criteria by which to measure the sufficiency of the evidence to support the findings of the commission. The standards there laid down, were as follows:

“Where the matter presented on appeal is the question of whether the commission should have in law arrived at a conclusion of fact different from that at which it did arrive from the evidence, a question of law is presented only when it is claimed that the commission could only arrive at one conclusion from the evidence, and that it found contrary to that inevitable conclusion. But in order to reverse the commission in this regard it must appear at least that (a) the evidence is uncontradicted, and (b) there is nothing in the record which is intrinsically discrediting to the uncontradicted testimony and (c) that the uncontradicted evidence is not wholly that of interested witnesses, or, if the uncontradicted evidence is wholly or partly from others than interested witnesses, that the record shows no bias or prejudice on the part of such other witnesses, and (d) the uncontradicted evidence is such as to carry a measure of conviction to the reasonable mind and sustain the burden of proof, and (e) precludes any other explanation or hypothesis as being more or equally as reasonable, and (f) there is

nothing in the record which would indicate that the presence of the witnesses gave the commission such an advantage over the court in aid to its conclusions that the conclusions should for that reason not be disturbed."

The principles and statements of the Kavalinakis and Norris cases have been oft repeated and steadfastly followed, as illustrated by the following cases: *Kent v. Ind. Comm.*, 89 Utah 381, 57 P. (2d) 724; *O'Brien v. Ind. Comm.*, 90 Utah 266, 61 P. (2d) 418; *West v. Ind. Comm.*, 90 Utah 262, 61 P. (2d) 416; *Milkovich v. Ind. Comm.*, 91 Utah 498, 64 P. (2d) 1290; *Johnson v. Ind. Comm.*, 93 Utah 493, 73 P. (2d) 1308; *Stoddard v. Ind. Comm.*, 103 Utah 351, 135 P. (2d) 256; *Godfrey v. Ind. Comm.*, 105 Utah 324, 142 P. (2d) 174; *Lorange v. Ind. Comm.*, 107 Utah 261, 153 P. (2d) 272; *Bailey v. Ind. Comm.*, 110 Utah 395, 174 P. (2d) 429; and *Jones v. Calif. Packing Corp.*, (Utah), 244 P. (2d) 640.

Applying the standards of the Norris case to the record in the case at bar, we find that at least three of the criteria established in the Norris case as essential to warrant a reversal of an Industrial order, are absent in this case. The first requirement (a) mentioned in the Norris case is that the evidence must be uncontradicted. While in this case there is no dispute on the evidentiary facts, the inferences which may be drawn therefrom are at best conflicting, or if they are not conflicting, they compel the finding made by the commission. We have heretofore in our statement of facts set forth abundant evidence, upon which the findings of the commission

were based. It certainly cannot be said that there is a lack of evidence to support the findings of the commission, or that there is uncontradicted evidence which compels a finding to the contrary.

The third standard (c) laid down in the Norris case, is that the uncontradicted evidence should not be wholly that of interested witnesses, and that the record should show no bias or prejudice on the part of witnesses, other than interested witnesses. The only witnesses who testified in this case were Victor Smith, (brother of the decedent, and also a brother of the guardian and applicant, and an uncle of the minor children, for whose benefit the award is sought,) and Melvin Stephenson, an employee of the Smith enterprises. While several of the Smith businesses are named as parties defendant, they are defendants only in a nominal sense, since any award would be borne by the compensation insurance carrier. It is patent from an examination of the testimony of these witnesses, that it was their desire to present the evidence in the light most favorable to the applicant. They were called as witnesses for the applicant, and it was their apparent purpose to attempt to make a case of liability under the Industrial Act. It cannot be said that they were disinterested witnesses, or that their testimony was free of bias.

The fifth requirement (e) established by the Norris case is that, the evidence must preclude any other explanation or hypothesis as being more or equally reasonable. In other words, the evidence will permit of only

one reasonable conclusion. If the evidence in this case compels any conclusion, it compels a finding that decedent was in the service of the partnership at the time of his demise. If the evidence permits of more than one conclusion, the conclusion drawn by the Commission is certainly at least equally as reasonable as any other which may be drawn. Most certainly the evidence does not preclude the finding made by the Commission.

It is readily apparent that at least three of the six elements necessary to warrant a reversal of the Commission's findings are absent in this case.

We also remind the court that the burden in this case is upon the plaintiff to prove by a preponderance of the evidence, that the deceased was killed in the course of his employment as an employee of one of the corporations. The burden is not upon the defendants to show that he was not an employee, or not in the scope of his employment at the time of the fatal accident. The rule in this regard is well stated in the case of *Bingham Mines v. Allsop*, 59 Utah 306, 203 P. 644:

“It was incumbent upon the beneficiaries to prove that the death resulted from an accident arising out of and in the course of deceased's employment.”

The rule has oft-times been reiterated, as illustrated, by the following cases: *Higley v. Ind. Comm.*, 75 Utah 361, 285 P. 306; *D. H. Perry Estate v. Ind. Comm.*, 79 Utah 8, 7 P. (2d) 269; *Chase v. Ind. Comm.*, 81 Utah 141, 17 P. (2d) 205; *Thompson v. Ind. Comm.*, 82 Utah 247,

23 P. (2d) 930; *Wherritt v. Ind. Comm.*, 100 Utah 68, 110 P. (2d) 374; *General Mills, Inc. v. Ind. Comm.*, 101 Utah 214, 120 P. (2d) 279; and *Royal Canning Corp. v. Ind. Comm.*, 101 Utah 323, 121 P. (2d) 406.

We do not understand that the plaintiff takes issue with any of the foregoing principles. On the contrary, the plaintiff apparently specifically admits on page 19 of his brief, that the rules are well established and not now open to question. However, having stated and conceded the rule, plaintiff in effect nonetheless, seeks to overthrow it, or get around it, by a series of arguments which we now consider.

Under Point I, and to a lesser extent, under Point II of his brief, plaintiff takes certain of the facts established without dispute in the record, and from these argues for certain inferences which he contends naturally follow, and from which he seeks to derive the ultimate conclusion that decedent was engaged in the service of one or more of the corporations of which he was an officer, at the time of his death. Conceding for the purpose of this argument, but without otherwise admitting that the evidence would permit an inference that the decedent was so engaged, there are, nonetheless, strong inferences which point to the conclusion that he was engaged solely in the service of the partnership, at the time of the accident. Under our statement of facts we pointed out that decedent was a general partner, in the partnership; that as such, he shared pro-rata in the profits of the partnership; that by the terms of the articles of partnership,

he was bound to devote his best efforts to the business of the partnership; that the purpose of the trip was the sale of a tomato pack; that none of the corporations had any sales organization; that the partnership acted as exclusive sales agent for the produce of all of the corporations; that the trip was made in a plane solely owned and maintained by the partnership, and that Robbins, who accompanied the decedent, was employed exclusively by the partnership as sales manager. All of these things point unerringly to the conclusion reached by the Commission in this case.

Counsel for the plaintiff argues that because the trip was for the purpose of selling the products of a corporation of which decedent was president and general manager, and that the corporation had some interest in disposing of its product, that the trip was therefore for the benefit of, and in the service of, the corporations. He argues that if the trip had been for the purpose of selling the products of Smith Canning Co., Mr. Victor R. Smith would have gone on the trip instead of the decedent, and that if the trip had been for the purpose of selling products of the Idaho or Oregon corporations, Mr. Milan D. Smith would have made the trip. This is pure argument and conjecture, and is not based upon any evidence in the record. While this line of argument may point to a permissible inference, it certainly does not compel the inference which the plaintiff draws. Several other equally probable inferences may be drawn. It may be argued that the decedent made the trip because it was necessary that Victor R. Smith, the managing partner,

remain at the home office to manage the affairs of the partnership during the absence of the sales manager. It may also be argued or inferred that it would not be convenient for an officer of the Idaho and Oregon corporations to come to Salt Lake for the purpose of going on a sales trip when there was a Utah resident readily available for that purpose. It is also possible that the decedent desired to take the trip partially for pleasure purposes. In this connection, it is not without significance that both men were accompanied by their wives. For aught that the record reveals, decedent may have made the trip because he was the best or only qualified pilot available. There is no specific evidence in the record that any purpose or function of any of the corporations was to be served by this trip. Without dispute the trip was primarily for the purpose of selling a tomato pack, a function exclusively within the province of the partnership. All references to any other business to be conducted on the trip, are at best, vague and uncertain.

The rule heretofore stated, that findings of the commission upon conflicting evidence are final, applies with equal force where the evidence is uncontradicted, but conflicting inferences may be drawn therefrom.

The rule was thus stated in *Parker v. Ind. Comm.*, 78 Utah 509, 5 P. (2d) 573:

“This court is not authorized to weigh conflicting evidence, nor is it authorized to direct which one of two or more reasonable inferences must be drawn from evidence which is not in conflict. That is the peculiar province of the In-

dustrial Commission.”

To the same effect are *Pace v. Ind. Comm.*, 87 Utah 6, 47 P. (2d) 1050 and *Russell v. Ind. Comm.*, 86 Utah 306, 43 P. (2d) 1069.

The language of this court in the case of *Sugar v. Ind. Comm.*, 94 Utah 56, 75 P. (2d) 311, is also apropos:

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